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James A. McDevitt
United States Attorney
Eastern District of Washington
George J.C.  Jacobs, III
Assistant United States Attorney
Post Office Box 1494
Spokane, WA 99210-1494
Telephone:  (509) 353-2767

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

vs.

DIXIE ELLEN RANDOCK,
STEVEN KARL RANDOCK, SR.,
HEIDI KAE LORHAN, and
ROBERTA LYNN MARKISHTUM, 

Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CR-05-180-LRS-1
CR-05-180-LRS-2
CR-05-180-LRS-6
CR-05-180-LRS-7
     
United States’ Response In
Opposition To Defendant’s
Motion And Memorandum To
Dismiss Indictment And
Suppress Evidence       

Plaintiff United States of America, by and through James A. McDevitt,

United States Attorney for the Eastern District of Washington, and George J.C.

Jacobs, III, Assistant United States Attorney for the Eastern District of

Washington, hereby files its Response In Opposition To Defendants’ Motion to

Dismiss Indictment.  The United States also incorporates into this response the

facts, legal arguments, and exhibits set forth in its Response In Opposition to

Defendants’ Motion To Suppress Evidence which the United States filed on

August 24, 2007.

The Defendant’s motion to dismiss the indictment and suppress evidence

should be denied.  The government’s conduct was not so grossly shocking and

outrageous as to violate the universal sense of justice.  It was not excessive,

scandalous, intolerable and offensive as to violate due process.  The agents were
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not brutal and they did not employ physical or psychological coercion against the

Defendants.  Their conduct does not fall within the “slim category” of cases where

the outrageous conduct doctrine would bar prosecution.  The actions of law

enforcement in this case did not exceed the bounds of permissible investigatory

conduct.  The agents did not gain entry into Suite 8B by trickery, deceit or

misrepresentation.  Unlike the ATF agent in United States v. Bosse, 898 F.2d 113

(9  Cir. 1990), the agents did not gain entry into Suite 8B in order to obtainth

information for subsequent search warrants.  Like the agents in United States v.

Alverez-Tejeda, __ F.3d __, 2007 WL 1651268 (9  Cir. 2007), the officers actionsth

were reasonable and the intrusion, if any, into the Defendants’ Fourth Amendment

interests were relatively mild.  Moreover, the officers did not initiate the contact

with the Defendants.  The Defendants initiated the contact.      

The execution of the March 29, 2005, search warrant and the “note” ruse

were two separate and distinct undertakings.  The United States had important

reasons for leaving the note after the search warrant had been executed.  It wanted

to determine if anyone would claim the boxes were their property.  It wanted to

protect the anonymity of an ongoing investigation.  It wanted to reveal the

criminal design and to expose the illegal conspiracy.  Courts have consistently

upheld the employment of undercover ruses in both investigating criminal activity

and executing search warrants.  See, e.g., Lewis v. United States, 385 U.S. 206,

208-09 (1967); United States v. Alverez-Tejeda, __ F.3d __, 2007 WL 1651268

(9  Cir. (Wash.)).  There is no reason for the Government to halt otherth

investigatory techniques when it obtains a warrant because these techniques might

reveal different information not available from a search warrant.  Leaving a

handwritten note in the public hallway of a commercial office building was not an

unconstitutional ruse.
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If the court determines that Detectives Beck and Tafoya’s intrusions on May

31, 2005, and June 3, 2005, were illegal, and that information is excised from the

affidavits, the magistrate still had a substantial basis for concluding that there was

probable cause to believe that contraband or evidence of a crime would be found.  

The Defendant’s Fifth Amendment right to remain silent was not violated

because he was not subjected to custodial interrogation.  The Defendant’s Sixth

Amendment right to counsel was not violated because adversary judicial

proceedings had not been initiated against him at the time he met with the

detectives. 

FACTUAL SETTING

In January 2005, the United States Secret Service (USSS), Spokane

Resident Office (RO), initiated an investigation into a number of internet “virtual”

schools suspected to be fraudulently selling high school and college degrees. 

Over the next ten months, agents conducted several undercover purchases of

fraudulent degrees, interviewed numerous witnesses, conducted surveillance, and

obtained documents from numerous third parties.

On March 24, 2005, as part of an ongoing covert criminal investigation into

a number of internet based virtual “schools”, three United States Secret Service

agents observed in plain view several open, unmarked, cardboard boxes along a

wall in a public hallway at  The Post Falls Professional Center in Post Falls, Idaho. 

Without touching the contents, the agents observed that the boxes contained files,

documents, and other articles.

On March 25, 2005, Senior Special Agent (SSA) John Neirinckx

interviewed Ray Guerra, the owner of The Post Falls Professional Center,

regarding the cardboard boxes the agents had seen the previous day.  Id.  Mr.

Guerra stated that he did not give any of the tenants in his building permission to

store any articles in that hallway, and the hallway should remain clear of any
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obstructions.  Id.  Mr. Guerra also told SSA Neirinckx that the hallway was not

part of the leased space of Suite B 8.  Id.  On March 29, 2005, the agents executed

a search warrant on the hallway of The Post Falls Professional Center and seized

the boxes.  

The March 29, 2005, “Note” Ruse Was A Separate And Distinct
Action Conducted After The Search Warrant Was Executed

  
On March 29, 2005, shortly after the search warrant was executed, SSA

Neirinckx posted a handwritten note on the wall above the area in the public

hallway where the boxes had been seized.  The note said: 

Whoever left their boxes of stuff in this hallway can look for it at the 
County Landfill.  This is a hallway, not a dumpster!!  
Besides, the building management would probably agree that the boxes
were a fire hazard and not just something to trip over!!  

– an Angry Tenant.

Information About The Interior Of Suite 8B Was Provided To
The Secret Service By The Office Manager Of High Wing
Construction, One Of The Other Business Tenants At The Post
Falls Professional Center

On April 4, 2005, SSA Neirinckx telephonically interviewed Pam Liebel,

Office Manager, High Wing Construction, one of the other business tenants in The

Post Falls Professional Center.  ROI 360559.  Ms. Liebel stated that she had

observed the contents of Suite 8B on numerous occasions over the past year, and

that there were a number of computers and printing equipment inside.  Id.

On April 28, 2005, SSA Neirinckx re-interviewed Ms. Liebel regarding the

individuals she had seen working in Suite 8B.  ROI 360574.  Ms. Liebel positively

identified Defendants Hensley and Markishtum from photo line-ups as being the

two individuals she routinely saw working in Suite 8B.  Id.  Ms. Liebel stated that

Defendants Markishtum and Hensley had told her that they worked in Suite 8B as

graphic designers and printers.  Id.  Ms. Liebel stated that in early April 2005,

Defendant Markishtum told her that Defendant Hensley had obtained a second job

in Spokane, Washington.  Id.  Ms. Liebel stated that Defendant Markishtum told
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her that Defendant Hensley was still working for the business in Suite 8B but was

now doing so out of her home, and that Defendant Hensley had taken one of the

computers from Suite 8B to her house.  Id.

On April 28, 2005, SSA Neirinckx asked Ms. Liebel if she had seen any

computer equipment or files in Suite 8B since Defendant Hensley had obtained a

second job.  Ms. Leibel stated that she was in Suite 8B recently and had noticed

there were two computers, two printers, three filing cabinets, and a box on the

floor containing many folders with numerous individual’s names on the tabs of the

folders.  ROI 360574-575.

May 26, 2005 - Defendant Markishtum Contacts The Post Falls
Police Department And Reports That On May 25, 2005, She
Discovered That Eight Boxes Of Files That She Had Last Seen
Two Weeks Ago (On May 12, 2005) Had Been Stolen 

On May 26, 2005, Defendant Markishtum contacted the Post Falls Police

Department and reported that eight white boxes of files containing credit card

statements, bank statements, and tax information had been stolen.  Defendant

Markishtum told PFPD Officer K. Mattson that she had last seen the eight boxes

of files approximately two weeks ago, on May 12, 2005.  Defendant Markishtum

said the name “AEIT” would be on the majority of the forms, the dates on the

boxes were from 1999 to 2003, there were two boxes for each year, and the name

“AEIT” was written on the boxes.  Defendant Markishtum reported to Officer

Mattson that the files were located in a small hallway immediately to the north of

the business.  Defendant Markishtum further reported to Officer Mattson that a

note was found taped to the wall where the boxes were sitting, the note was

written in black marker.  She told Officer Mattson that the note stated that the

boxes could be located at the “COUNTY LANDFILL,” the hallway was “NOT A

DUMPSTER,” the boxes were a “FIRE HAZARD,” and was written by an

“ANGRY TENANT.”
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Defendant Markishtum told Officer Mattson that she was employed by

Steven Randock and that he wanted her to contact the police and file a report. 

Defendant Markishtum told Officer Mattson that “Steven” concluded there was

$200,000 worth of financial information in the files.

While Officer Mattson was on the scene, “Steven” called Defendant

Markishtum and requested discussing the incident with Officer Mattson.  “Steven”

told Officer Mattson that if the files were not found, his whole business would go

under.  Officer Mattson asked “Steven” if he had any names or numbers which

would help identify the files.  “Steven” did not provide Officer Mattson with such

information.          

May 26, 2005 - Defendant Markishtum Asks Another Tenant In
The Post Falls Professional Center If She Knows Who Removed
The Boxes

Defendant Markishtum did not discover that the boxes were missing from

the hallway until May 26, 2005.  ROI 360583-84.  On May 26, 2005, the Secret

Service received a telephone call from Pam Leibel.  ROI 360583.  Ms. Leibel is an

employee of High Wing Construction, another tenant who rented an office on the

basement floor of Mr. Guerra’s building.  Id.  Ms. Leibel told the Secret Service

that earlier that day Defendant Markishtum asked her if she knew who may have

taken the boxes from the hallway.  Id.  Defendant Markishtum told Ms. Leibel that

the records belonged to “Steve” who is the owner of their business.  ROI 360584. 

She also told Ms. Liebel that “Steve” demanded that Defendant Markishtum call

the police immediately to file a police report.  Id.

May 26, 2005 - SSA Neirinckx Interviews  PFPD Officer K.
Mattson 

On May 26, 2005, SSA Neirinckx interviewed PFPD Officer K. Mattson,

regarding Officer Mattson’s interview of Defendant Markishtum earlier that day. 

ROI 360584.  Officer Mattson stated that she responded to a report of theft at 601
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East Seltice Way, Suite 8B, and interviewed Roberta Markishtum who claimed to

be an employee of Steven Randock.  Officer Mattson stated that Ms. Markishtum

claimed that there were approximately eight boxes of files “stolen” from an area

adjacent to the office where Ms. Markishtum worked.  Id.  Officer Mattson stated

that Ms. Markishtum claimed these boxes contained credit card statements, bank

statements, and tax information for “AEIT” from 1999 through 2003.  Officer

Mattson stated that Ms. Markishtum also claimed that, according to Steven

Randock, these boxes contained approximately $200,000 worth of financial

information.  Id.

May 27, 2005 - SSA Neirinckx Interviews PFPD Detective Dave Beck

On May 27, 2005, SSA Neirinckx interviewed Detective Dave Beck.  ROI

360585.  Detective Beck stated that he was the Detective assigned to the theft case

reported at Suite 8B.  SSA Neirinckx informed Detective Beck that the records he

was assigned to investigate were likely the same records which had been seized by

the USSS pursuant to a Federal search warrant executed on March 29, 2005.  SSA

Neirinckx further requested Detective Beck’s assistance in confirming who

actually owned the records.  Detective Beck agreed to assist, and stated that he

would set up an appointment with Steven Randock at 601 East Seltice Way, Suite

8B, Post Falls, Idaho.    

May 28, 2005 – Detective Beck Contacts Steven Randock

On May 28, 2005, Detective Beck spoke with Steven Randock on the

phone.  Steven Randock and Detective Beck mutually arranged to meet at Steven

Randock’s office on May 31, 2005.

May 31, 2005, Detectives Tafoya And Beck Meet With Defendants
Dixie Randock, Steven Randock and Markishtum At Suite 8B 

On May 31, 2005, Detective Beck made contact with Steven Randock,

Dixie Randock and Roberta Markishtum at Suite 8B.  Spokane Police Department
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Fraud Unit Detective Bryan Tafoya accompanied Detective Beck to Suite 8B. 

ROI 360585.  At no time did Detective Tafoya identify himself as a Post Falls

Police Officer.  At no time did Detective Tafoya affirmatively misrepresent that he

was employed by the Post Falls Police Department.  The detectives did not gain

entry into Suite 8B by deceit, trickery, or misrepresentation.  Prior to the May 31,

2005, meeting, Detectives Beck and Tafoya determined that, if asked, Detective

Tafoya would not conceal the fact that he was a Detective with the Fraud Unit of

the Spokane Police Department.

During the interview, Dixie and Steve Randock said the boxes contained the

following items for their business “Advanced Education Institute Trust” (AEIT):

1) data CD’s; 2) business records from 1999-2003 and possibly some records from

1998; 3) credit card information; 4) employee  records; 5) academic records; 6)

tuition disbursement records; 7) bank records; 8) printing archives.  Id.  Detective

Tafoya asked Defendant Dixie Randock to explain what “AEIT” did.  Id. 

Defendant Dixie Randock described AEIT as an on-line document processing

center primarily for schools located outside the United States.  Id.  Detective

Tafoya asked Defendant Dixie Randock what “schools” AEIT serviced.  Id. 

Defendant Dixie Randock would not name any specific school.  Id.  Defendant

Dixie Randock volunteered that “OTAC” was somehow attached to Suite 8B, but

she would not elaborate on what the initials in “OTAC” meant, or its function.  Id.

Defendant Dixie Randock stated that she worked with various church

schools, academic services, and that they printed for some businesses.  Id. 

Defendant Dixie Randock volunteered that “AEIT” was like a “credit bank” in that

a person may have taken courses at several different schools but never received a

degree.  Id.  Defendant Dixie Randock stated that “AEIT” allowed a person to

receive a degree by using a “credit bank” system.  ROI 360586.  She stated that the
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United States Department of State evaluated some of their clients for the purpose

of issuing Visas.  Id.

Detective Tafoya asked for blank copies of some of the business forms that

“AEIT” routinely used in order to be more familiar with what records to look for. 

Id.  Defendants Dixie Randock and Markishtum provided Detective Tafoya with

eight copies of eight documents:  a commission sheet / fee sheet bearing the names

“Pat, Tim Berta, Heidi, CCI, and Wendi / Jendi;” a degree order form; bank

statement; and credit card statement.  Id.  See attached Certified Inventory of

Evidence (Serial Number 410 2005 CE 000046) and attached Items 1, 2, and 4.

Detective Tafoya inquired if there were any disgruntled employees.  Id.

Defendant Randock stated that Amy Hensley had worked there for six years and

she had gone from being a full-time employee to a commission-based employee

who did evaluations at home.  Id. Defendant Dixie Randock stated that “business

had slowed down” and Ms. Hensley was not as busy.  Id.  Defendants Dixie and

Steve Randock claimed that Ms. Hensley had made accounting errors which cost

them $60,000 in unpaid taxes and a $30,000 penalty assessed by the IRS.  Id. 

Defendant Dixie Randock also claimed that Ms. Hensley’s errors made her lose a

$500,000 life insurance policy.  Id.

Defendants Steven and Dixie Randock stated that they would be able to

reconstruct some of their records from other sources, including their home

computers.  Id.  Defendant Dixie Randock stated that they also had a Spokane

office located at 14525 North Newport Highway where they did web hosting.  ROI

360587.  Defendant Randock volunteered that Ken Pearson was their computer

technician and he had been employed for four years.  Id.  The detectives did not

look through boxes of records or file drawers, nor did the detectives ask for or take

handwriting examples.
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Detective Tafoya observed that there were two work stations in Suite 8B, at

least two computers and printers, several embossers, rubber signature stamps, foils

seals, and several file cabinets.  ROI 360587.  Detective Beck expressed an

interest in collecting badges and seals at which time either Defendant Dixie

Randock or Markishtum opened a shrink-wrapped roll of foil seals bearing the

following name, “Association of International Education Assessors” (AIEA) and

voluntarily gave two seals to Detective Beck.  Id.

The Detectives’ June 6, 2005, Interview of Defendant Markishtum
At Suite 8B

       
On June 6, 2006, Detectives Tafoya and Beck re-interviewed Defendant

Markishtum regarding follow-up questions into the “missing boxes.”  ROI

360590.  The encounter was brief.  Defendant Markishtum told the detectives that

the boxes also contained business records for “A+ Institute.”  During the

interview, Defendant Markishtum answered the telephone, “OTAC.”  Detective

Beck expressed an interest in some seals he saw on Defendant Markishtum’s work

station.  Id.  Defendant Markishtum voluntarily gave Detective Beck two foil seals

bearing the name “National Board of Education” (NBOE).

Detective Tafoya’s June 8, 2005, Interview of Amy Hensley At
Her Place of Work  

On June 8, 2005, Detective Tafoya met with Amy Hensley at her new place

of work (not Suite 8B) and interviewed her.  ROI 360591–92.

Execution of Seven Search Warrants on August 10, 2005 

On August 10, 2005, the United States Secret Service executed search

warrants at the following locations: (1) Defendants Dixie E. and Steven K.

Randock, Sr.’s residence (3127 East River Glen Drive, Colbert, Washington); (2)

Defendant Heidi K. Lorhan’s residence (14308 East 22d Avenue, Veradale,

Washington); (3) Defendant Amy L. Hensley’s residence (8015 East Baldwin,

Spokane, Washington); (4) Defendant Richard J. Novak’s residence (Peoria,
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Arizona); (5) Suite 8B, 601 East Seltice Way, Post Falls, Idaho; (6) 14525 North

Newport Highway, Mead, Washington; and (7) Northwest Business Stamp (5210

North Market, Spokane, Washington).  Each affidavit in support of probable cause

is over one-hundred pages long.  See attached search warrant affidavits.  The

affidavits are based on information obtained from numerous independent sources. 

The Secret Service initiated its investigation in January 2005.  During the eight

months preceding the August 2005, search warrants, the Secret Service

interviewed numerous third parties, conducted numerous undercover degree

purchases, and reviewed documents provided by numerous third parties.  There are

only two paragraphs in the affidavits which contain information arguably obtained

from the “note” ruse.  For example, the affidavit in support of the search warrant

executed at Suite 8B on August 10, 2005, consists of one-hundred-fifty-nine

paragraphs.  See attached affidavit.  According to Paragraphs 111 and 112 of that

affidavit:

111.  On 5/26/05, Roberta Markishtum made a report with the Post
Falls Police Department regarding boxes of business records that
were missing from an area adjacent to Suite 8B.  As mentioned
previously in this affidavit, pursuant to a federal search warrant
executed on 3/29/05, and served on the owner of the building where
the boxes were located, 11 boxes of documents were seized from a
common hallway adjacent to Suite 8B.  On 5/31/05, Sgt. Dave Beck
of the Post Falls Police Department, accompanied by Det. Tafoya of
the Spokane Police Department, contacted Dixie Randock and Steve
Randock, Sr. at 601 E. Seltice Way, B-8, Post Falls, Idaho, regarding
Roberta Markishtum’s police report.  During that meeting, Detective
Tafoya was told that Amy Hensley had worked there for six years and
that she had gone from being a full-time employee to a commissioned
employee who did evaluations at home but that business had slowed
down and that she was not doing much lately.

  

112.  On 6/8/05, Amy Hensley told Detective Tafoya that she had
worked for Dixie and Steve Randock for six-plus years as a business
manager/office manager.  Amy Hensley said that she left full time
employment in mid-April due to business slowing down and her
having to sit on her paychecks for several days before cashing them. 
Amy Hensley told Detective Tafoya that she continues to do some
work on a commission basis for AEIT.  Amy Hensley would only say
that she was doing some support work for the business and would
occasionally help Roberta Markishtum with some office questions.     
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October 5, 2005, Indictment

On October 5, 2005, a Federal Grand Jury in the Eastern District of

Washington returned a three-count Indictment against Defendants Dixie E.

Randock, Steven K. Randock, Sr., Heidi K. Lorhan, Roberta L. Markishtum, Amy

L. Hensley, Richard Novak, Blake Carlson, and Kenneth Pearson.  In Count 1, the

Defendants were charged with Conspiracy to Commit Wire Fraud and Mail Fraud,

in violation of 18 U.S.C. 371, 1341 and 1343.  In Count 2, Defendants Dixie E.

Randock and Steven K. Randock, Sr.  were charged with Conspiracy to Launder

Monetary Instruments, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(a)(1)(A)(I), (B)(I), and

1957(a) and 18 U.S.C. 1556(a)(2)(A) and (B)(I), all in violation of 18 U.S.C.

1956(h).  Count Three alleges criminal forfeiture.

Defendants’ Arraignments

On October 26, 2005, Defendants Dixie E. Randock, Steven K. Randock,

Sr., Heidi K, Lorhan and Roberta L. Markishtum appeared with retained or

appointed counsel for their arraignments before United States Magistrate Judge

Cynthia Imbrogno.       

 LEGAL ARGUMENT   

The Handwritten Note Was Not An Unconstitutional Ruse - The
United States Had Important Reasons For Employing It

 
The Defendants also suggest that the agents engaged in an unconstitutional

ruse by leaving a handwritten note in the commercial hallway of the Post Falls

Professional Center after the boxes had been seized pursuant to the search warrant

executed on March 29, 2005.  The execution of the search warrant and leaving the

note were two separate and distinct undertakings.  Courts have consistently upheld

the employment of undercover ruses in both investigating criminal activity and

executing search warrants.  See, e.g., Lewis v. United States, 385 U.S. 206, 208-09

(1967) (“[i]t has long been acknowledged by the decisions of this Court, [citations
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omitted], that in the detection of many types of crime, the Government is entitled

to use decoys and to conceal the identity of its agents”).  The use of government

ruses and deception has recently been upheld in United States v. Alverez-Tejeda,

__F.3d __, 2007 WL 1651268 (9  Cir. (Wash.)).  In Alverez-Tejeda, DEA agentsth

staged an accident/theft/chase in order to seize drugs without tipping off the

conspirators. __ F.3d __, 2007 WL 1651268, at 1.  The United States had

important reasons for leaving the note, including:  determining who, if anyone, 

would claim ownership of the boxes; protecting the anonymity of an ongoing

criminal investigation; and wanting to reveal the criminal design or to expose the

illegal conspiracy.  As this Circuit acknowledged in Alverez-Tejeda, the Supreme

Court has emphasized “the necessity for some undercover police activity,” Lewis

v. United States, 385 U.S. 206, 208-09 (1966), and explained that “[a]rtifice and

stratagem may be employed to catch those engaged in criminal enterprises[;] ... to

reveal the criminal design; [or] to expose the illicit traffic, ... the illegal

conspiracy, or other offenses,”  id. at 209 n. 5 (quoting Sorrells v. United States,

287 U.S. 435, 441-42 (1932)). __ F.3d __, 2007 WL 1651268, at 2.  Courts have

long recognized that “[t]here is no reason for the government to halt other

investigatory techniques when it obtains a warrant” because “[t]hese other

techniques might reveal different information not available from a warrant

search.”  See, e.g., United States v. Alvarez, 812 F.2d 668, 670 (11  Cir. 1987).th

The Motion To Dismiss Should Be Denied Because The
Government’s Conduct Was Not So Grossly Shocking And
Outrageous As To Violate The Universal Sense Of Justice

The Defendants’ motion to dismiss should be denied because the

government’s conduct was not so grossly shocking and outrageous as to violate

the universal sense of justice.  The government’s conduct was not excessive,

flagrant, scandalous, intolerable and offensive as to violate due process.  The

actions of law enforcement in this case did not exceed the bounds of permissible
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investigatory conduct.  The agent’s were not brutal and they did not employ

physical or psychological coercion against the Defendants.  Their conduct does

not fall within the “slim category” of cases where the outrageous conduct doctrine

would bar prosecution. 

A district court may dismiss an indictment on the ground of outrageous

government conduct if the conduct amounts to a due process violation.  See, e.g.,

United States v. Simpson, 813 F.2d 1462, 1464-65 (9  Cir.), cert. denied, 484 U.S.th

898 (1987) (Simpson I).  For a due process dismissal, the government’s conduct

must be so grossly shocking and so outrageous as to violate the universal sense of

justice.  United States v. Ramirez, 710 F.2d 535, 539 (9  Cir. 1983); United Statesth

v. Citro, 842 F.2d 1149, 1152 (9  Cir. 1988).  The Government’s involvementth

must be malum in se or amount to the engineering and direction of the criminal

enterprise from start to finish.  Citro, 842 F.2d at 1153.  The police conduct must

be “repugnant to the American system of justice, Shaw v. Winters, 796 F.2d 1124,

1125 (9  Cir. 1986) (quoting United States v. Lomas, 706 F.2d 886, 891 (9  Cir.th th

1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1047 (1984)).  “In short, a defendant must meet an

extremely high standard.”  United States v. Popp, 924 F.2d 889, 897 (9  Cir.th

1991).  This circuit has described dismissing an indictment as a drastic step and a

disfavored remedy.  See, e.g., United States v. Rogers, 751 F.2d 1074, 1076-77 (9th

Cir. 1985).

In United States v. Bogart, 783 F.2d 1428, 1435 (9  Cir.), vacated on otherth

grounds with respect to one defendant sub nom. United States v. Wingender, 790

F.2d 802 (9  Cir. 1986), this circuit recognized that the outrageous conductth

doctrine bars prosecution of defendants in “that slim category of cases in which

the police have been brutal, employing physical or psychological coercion against

the defendant.”  See also United States v. Kelly, 707 F.2d 1460, 1476 n. 13 (D.C.

Cir.) (per curiam) (citing cases).  “This case law evolved from the Russell Court’s
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citation to Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165 (1952), as an example of activity

which shocks the conscience.”  United States v. Simpson, 813 F.2d 1462, 1466 (9th

Cir. 1987) citing United States v. Russell, 411 U.S. 423, 432 (1973).  In Rochin,

police officers broke into the defendant’s bedroom, attempted to pull drug

capsules from his throat, and finally forcibly pumped his stomach to retrieve the

capsules.  The Supreme Court found these law enforcement methods “too close to

the rack and the screw to permit of constitutional differentiation.”  Rochin, 342

U.S. at 172.  Relying on Rochin, this circuit similarly found that the government’s

conduct violated due process when border patrol officers forcibly removed

narcotics packets from a defendant’s rectum while he was handcuffed and held

spreadeagled across the table by other officers.  Huguez, v. United States, 406 F.2d

366, 381 (9  Cir. 1968).  In contrast to these cases, this circuit has rejected dueth

process challenges to highly intrusive searches for contraband secreted in body

cavities and to forced physical treatment to recover swallowed contraband in

contexts where these actions were undertaken without “coercion, violence, or

brutality to the person.”  Irvine v. California, 347 U.S. 128, 133 (1954)

(distinguishing Rochin); see, e.g., Blefare v. United States, 362 F.2d 870 (9  Cir.th

1966) (rejecting outrageous conduct challenge to insertion of tube into defendant’s

stomach to force him to vomit swallowed drug capsules when pain was limited

and procedure was performed by licensed physician; see also Kelly, 707 F.2d at

1476 (“The requisite level of outrageousness ... is not established merely upon a

showing of obnoxious behavior or even flagrant misconduct on the part of the

police; [due process] is not transgressed absent ‘coercion, violence or brutality to

the person.’ “) (quoting Irvine, 347 U.S. at 133).

This circuit has upheld all of the following:  use of false identities by

undercover agents, Shaw v. Winters, 796 F.2d 1124, 1125 (9  Cir. 1986) andth

United States v. Marcello, 731 F.2d 1354, 1357 (9  cir. 1984); the supply ofth
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contraband at issue in the offense, Hampton v. United States, 425 U.S. 484, 489

(1976); the commission of equally serious offense by an undercover agent as part

of the investigation, United States v. Stenberg, 803 F.2d 422, 430 (9  Cir. 1986);th

the introduction of drugs into a prison to identify a distribution network, United

States v. Wiley, 794 F.2d 514, 515 (9  Cir. 1986); the assistance andth

encouragement of escape attempts, United States v. Williams, 791 F.2d 1383, 1586

(9  Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 869 (1986); the use of a heroin-using prostituteth

informant whose own activities were under investigation and who engaged in

regular intercourse with the defendant, United States v. Simpson, 813 F.2d 1462,

1465-71 (9  Cir.), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 898 (1987); encouraging an eighteen-th

year-old patient in a drug treatment center to deal drugs, United States v. Smith,

924 F.2d 889, 897 (9  Cir. 1991); and the staging of an accident, theft, and policeth

chase in order to seize drugs without revealing an ongoing undercover

investigation to the conspirators, United States v. Alverez-Tejeda, __ F.3d __,

2007 WL 1651268 (9  Cir. June 8, 2007).th

In Alverez-Tejeda, the United States Drug Enforcement Administration

staged an accident/theft/chase in order to seize drugs without tipping off the

conspirators.  2007 WL 1651268, *1.  Having seized the car through this ruse, the

agents obtained a search warrant and discovered narcotics inside.  Id.  The

government indicted Alverez-Tejeda but the district court found that the method of

seizure violated the Fourth Amendment and suppressed the evidence obtained

from the vehicle.  This circuit reversed the district court, finding that the agents’

actions in misleading Alverez-Tejeda were reasonable in light of their vital interest

in seizing the drugs and not exposing their investigation.  2007 WL 1651268, at

*3.  Finding that the DEA agent’s conduct was neither so grossly shocking or

outrageous as to violate the universal sense of justice, this circuit also declined

Alverez-Tejeda’s request to order the district court to dismiss the indictment. 
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2007 WL 1651268, at *3, n.2.

“To assess the reasonableness of th[e] conduct, [a court[] must balance the

nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual’s Fourth Amendment interests

against the importance of the governmental interests alleged to justify the

intrusion.”  United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 125 (1984) (internal

quotation marks omitted).  While agents have discretion to decide “how best to

proceed” in conducting a covert operation, they must abide by the “general”

protections of the Fourth Amendment.  Dalia v. United States, 441 U.S. 238, 257

(1979).

The benchmark for the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness, which

requires us to weigh the government’s justification for its actions against the

intrusion into the defendant’s interests.  Jacobsen, 466 U.S. at 125.  In Alverez-

Tejeda, the government had two important reasons for staging the

accident/theft/chase: the agents wanted to stop the drugs before they reached their

ultimate destination; and they wanted to protect the anonymity of an ongoing

investigation.  2007 WL 1651268, at *2.  This circuit found that the intrusion into

Alverez-Tejeda’s Fourth Amendment interests was relatively mild.  Id.  The force

was minimal, the tactics created no serious risk of bodily injury or violence, the

agents did not run Alverez-Tejeda of the road, stage a car-jacking, or hold him at

gunpoint.  Id.  “Nor was there anything unreasonable in the agents choice of guile

to seize the car.”  Id.  This circuit observed, “[w]hile we don’t generally second-

guess the government’s use of stealth to ferret out criminal activity, see Dalia, 441

U.S. at 257, we take a closer look when agents identify themselves as government

officials but mislead suspects as to their purpose and authority.  Alverez-Tejeda,

2007 WL 1651268, at *2.  This is because people “should be able to rely on [the]

representations” of government officials.  United States v. Bosse, 898 F.2d 113,

115 (9  Cir. 1990).  “This concern is at its zenith when government officials lie inth
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order to gain access to places and things they would otherwise have no legal

authority to reach.”  Alverez-Tejeda, 2007 WL 1651268, at *3.  “We think it

clearly improper for a government agent to gain access to [property] which would

otherwise be unavailable to him by invoking the private individual’s trust in his

government ....”  Bosse, 898 F.2d at 115 (internal quotation marks omitted).  In

Alverez-Tejeda, this circuit concluded that,

[t]his consideration is not implicated here because they already had
the authority to seize the car and arrest Alverez-Tejeda; their lies did
not have the effect of expanding their ostensible authority beyond the
scope of their actual authority.  The only consequence of their deceit
was to treat Alverez-Tejeda as a victim, rather than a criminal suspect
– driving him to a hotel rather than immediately dragging him off to
jail – and the only harm he suffered was being misled and subjected
to fright that comes from being the victim of a crime.  We find that
the agents’ actions in misleading Alverez-Tejeda were reasonable in
light of their vital interest in seizing the drugs and not exposing their
investigation.                                                      That the agents took
some of Alverez-Tejeda’s property that was in the car, including a
camera, checkbook and clothing, didn’t make their actions
unreasonable.

Alverez-Tejeda, 2007 WL 1651268, at *3.  Like the DEA agents in Alverez-

Tejeda, Detectives Tafoya and Beck did not lie in order to gain access to places

and things they would otherwise have no legal authority to reach.  The government

did not stage a “theft” as the Defendants claim.  The handwritten note that SSA

Neirinckx left in the hallway on March 29, 2005, clearly suggests that an “angry

tenant” perceived the boxes blocking the hallway as trash, and discarded them at

the county landfill. The note clearly states, “This is a hallway, not a dumpster.”  

The note in no way suggests that an “angry tenant” stole the boxes.  The

Defendants may have been more inclined to perceive the boxes as being stolen if

SSA Neirinckx had not left a note.  Common thieves do not leave notes.  A note is

evidence which can then be analyzed for latent prints, or compared to handwriting

exemplars.  Moreover, if one of the building’s tenants had stolen the boxes, they

would not have left a note signed “angry tenant.”  The Defendants initiated the
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contact with the police by filing a report and claiming that $200,000 worth of

property had been stolen.  The police did not initiate the contact.  Moreover, the

Defendants told the police that they had seen the property as recently as May 12,

2005.  Thus, the police  had the authority to go out and further investigate the

Defendants’ claim.  If that was the case, the boxes Defendant Markishtum was

describing were not the same boxes that the Secret Service had lawfully seized on

March 29, 2005, pursuant to a search warrant.  If anything, the intrusion was

occasioned by the Defendants lies and not by any trickery on the part of the police. 

Moreover, any intrusion into the Defendants’ Fourth Amendment interests was

relatively mild.  It was certainly far less intrusive than the one this circuit upheld

in Alverez-Tejeda.  Like the agents in Alverez-Tejeda, the detectives treated the

Defendants as victims, rather than as criminal suspects.  The Defendants’

freedoms were not restrained in any way.    

In support of their motion, the Defendants cite United States v. Stringer, 408

F.Supp.2d 1083 (D.Or. 2006).   Stringer provides a weak legal foundation.  First1

of all, Stringer is a district court case and is not binding precedent on this court. 

Secondly, the instant case is clearly distinguishable from Stringer.  In Stringer, the

defendants were subjected to a securities fraud investigation by the SEC, lasting

more than two years, which was orchestrated by the United States Attorney’s

Office [“USAO”] as a means of “conceal[ing] the criminal investigation from [the]

defendants.”  408 F.Supp.2d at 1088.  Evidence showed that several years prior to

the criminal indictment, the Assistant United States Attorney and the SEC

investigators had “extensive discussions” about the case, and rather than initiating

parallel proceedings, used the SEC investigation in order to “suppress the presence

of the USAO.”  This, despite the fact that a decision had already been made that
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the case warranted prosecution.  Id. At 1085, 1086.  Moreover, when the defendant

testified before the SEC, his attorney asked if the SEC was “working in

conjunction with any other department of the United States, such as the United

States Attorney’s Office,” and received a response that was “evasive and

misleading, particularly in light of the close association between the USAO and

the SEC throughout the investigation and the early identification of Stringer as a

criminal target.”  Id. at 1088, 1089.  Against this background, the Stringer court

found that the USAO had “spent years hiding behind the civil investigation to

obtain evidence, avoid criminal discovery rules, and avoid constitutional

protections,” actions “so grossly shocking and so outrageous as to violate the

universal sense of justice.”  Id.  (citing United States v. Smith, 924 F.2d 889, 897

(9  Cir. 1991)).  None of those facts and circumstances are present here.th

The Defendants also rely on United States v. Bosse, 898 F.2d 113 (9  Cir.th

1990).  Reliance on Bosse is misplaced.  This circuit did not dismiss the

indictment in Bosse.  It also did not conclude that the government’s conduct was

so grossly shocking or outrageous as to violate the universal sense of justice.  In

Bosse, the defendant moved for a new trial and to suppress the shotgun after newly

discovered evidence revealed an earlier illegal entry may have tainted the warrant

that authorized the search that disclosed the shotgun.  898 F.2d at 114.  The

district court agreed and set aside the judgment, granted the motion for a new trial

and granted the motion to suppress.  Id.  This circuit vacated the suppression order

and remanded for further proceedings.  Id.    

Bosse was licensed as a semiautomatic firearms dealer and had an

application pending for a state license to buy and sell automatic machine guns.  An

agent (Dunkin) of the California Department of Justice inspected Bosse’s home

and surrounding premises with Bosse’s consent as part of the license application

process.  An ATF agent (Rusin) accompanied the state agent on the search without
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identifying himself as an ATF agent.  After gaining entry to Bosse’s house, the

ATF agent prepared diagrams of the layout of Bosse’s house in preparation for

obtaining and executing a search warrant.  After a hearing, the district court found

the purpose of the ATF agent’s initial surreptitious entry was to observe things of

interest to ATF and the federal government.  The California agent identified

himself to Bosse as a state agent conducting an inspection in connection with

Bosse’s pending license application.  The California agent explained to Bosse that

the other agent “is with me.”  Bosse then allowed the inspection to proceed.  This

circuit found that “[i]n these circumstances, Rusin’s silence amounted to a

deliberate representation that his purpose was that announced by Dunkin, and a

deliberate misrepresentation of his true purpose.”  Bosse, 898 F.2d at 115.  Based

on United States v. Phillips, 497 F.2d 1131 (9  Cir. 1974) and United States v.th

Little, 753 F.2d 1420 (9  Cir. 1984), this circuit concluded that the ATF agent’sth

surreptitious entry into Bosse’s home was illegal.  898 F.2d at 115. 

Bosse is distinguishable.  First of all, unlike the ATF agent in Bosse,

Detective Tafoya did not gain entry in order to obtain information for a search

warrant.  Detectives Tafoya and Beck also did not gain entry under the pretense

that they were conducting an inspection for licensing purposes.  Detectives Tafoya

and Beck also did not conduct an inspection of the premises.  They opened no file

drawers nor rummaged through any papers in Suite 8B.  Detective Tafoya

accompanied Detective Beck for several important reasons.  He wanted to

ascertain and confirm that the boxes Defendant Markishtum had reported stolen

were in fact the same boxes which had been seized by the Secret Service pursuant

to a search warrant on March 29, 2005, and were not some other boxes.  When

SSA Neirinckx requested the PFPD’s assistance, he did not know for certain that

the boxes were one and the same.  This is even more so since the handwritten note

left by SSA Neirinckx indicated the boxes were considered trash and were taken to
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the “county landfill.”  Businesses routinely generate numerous records and

without a detailed description, the Defendants could have been describing a

different set of records.  Thus, the PFPD was assisting SSA Neirinckx in

confirming which boxes the Defendants had filed a report about.  Moreover,

Defendant Markishtum had told Officer Mattson on May 26, 2005, that she had

last seen the boxes on May 12, 2005.  Defendant Markishtum was either

describing some other boxes, was confused about when she last saw the boxes, or

was intentionally misleading the police about when she last saw the boxes. 

Detective Tafoya also wanted to ascertain and confirm who, if anyone in Suite 8B,

was claiming ownership of all the boxes.  Detectives Tafoya and Beck also went to

Suite 8B in order to investigate the possible commission of new crimes, i.e., –

filing a false police report and insurance fraud.  On May 26, 2005, Defendant

Markishtum told Officer Mattson that, according to Defendant Steve Randock, the

boxes were worth $200,000.

The Defendants argue that the investigation Detectives Beck and Tafoya

conducted on May 31, 2005, June 3, 2005, and the June 8, 2005, interview of Amy

Hensley led to the indictment in this case.  This is simply not true and that

statement overlooks the evidence that had already been obtained from independent

sources via grand jury subpoena, other search warrants, undercover purchases, 

and interviews of third parties.  It also overlooks the evidence that the Secret

Service obtained from numerous independent sources during the ensuing six

months.          

The Bosse court ultimately stated that suppression would be the appropriate

remedy only if the illegal entry had tainted the subsequent search warrant obtained

by the agent.  898 F.2d at 116.  The case was remanded for further proceedings in

the district court.  See id.  Therefore, even if the court finds that Detective Tafoya

and Beck’s May 31, 2005, and June 3, 2005, entry into Suite 8B was illegal, the
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extreme remedy of dismissal is not appropriate.

If The Court Determines That The May 31, 2005, and June 3,
2005, Entries Into Suite 8B Were Illegal, And Excises This
Information From The August 10, 2005, Search Warrant
Affidavits, The Magistrate Still Had A Substantial Basis For
Concluding That There Was Probable Cause  

The United States argues further that suppression is similarly unwarranted

because the entry, even if deemed illegal, did not taint the subsequent search

warrants obtained by SSA Neirinckx.  The affidavits in support of the search

warrants contain extensive information gathered from numerous independent

sources.  Those affidavits were not tainted by any evidence obtained by Detectives

Beck and Tafoya.  The information obtained from the Defendants false report of a

theft of $200,000 worth of property and included in the search warrant affidavits

was brief (consisting of only two paragraphs).  The information also had already

been discovered through independent sources (see, e.g., information about the

interior of Suite 8B provided to the USSS by Pam Liebel).

The ultimate question ... is whether the search pursuant to
warrant was in fact a genuinely independent source of the ... evidence
at issue here. This would not have been the case if the agents'
decision to seek the warrant was prompted by what they had seen
during the initial entry, or if information obtained during that entry
was presented to the Magistrate and affected his decision to issue the 
warrant.

Bosse, 898 F.2d at 116 (quoting Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 540

(1988)).

In the instant case, SSA Neirinckx’s decision to seek subsequent warrants

was not prompted by what Detectives Tafoya and Beck had seen or heard.  The

subsequent warrants were based on information provided by numerous

independent sources, not on what Detectives Tafoya and Beck had seen in

connection with the Defendants’ filing of a false police report.  The two

paragraphs in the affidavits did not affect the magistrate’s decision to issue the
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warrants.

“A magistrate judge’s finding of probable cause is entitled to great

deference and this court will not find a search warrant invalid if the magistrate

judge had a ‘substantial basis’ for concluding that the supporting affidavit

established probable cause.”  United States v. Clark, 31 F.3d 831, 834 (9  Cir.th

1994).  Probable cause exists when the magistrate judge finds that, “[c]onsidering

the totality of the circumstances,” there is “‘a fair probability that contraband or

evidence of a crime will be found.’”  United States v. Gil, 58 F.3d 1414, 1419 (9th

Cir. 1995) (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983)).  In analyzing the

magistrate’s decision, however, a reviewing court must excise the portion of the

affidavit in support of the warrant application containing information that was

obtained during the illegal search.  See United States v. Reed, 15 F.3d 928, 933 (9th

Cir. 1994) (“A reviewing court should excise the tainted evidence and determine

whether the remaining untainted evidence would provide a neutral magistrate with

probable cause to issue a warrant.”) (internal quotation marks and citation

omitted); Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 172 (1978) (when reviewing

affidavits containing “tainted” evidence, courts regularly set aside the tainted

information and then determine if “there remains sufficient content in the warrant

affidavit to support a finding or probable cause”).  If paragraphs 111 and 112 are 

excised from the search warrant affidavits, the magistrate still had a “substantial

basis” for concluding that there was probable cause to believe that contraband or

evidence of a crime would be found at the respective locations.  Valid search

warrants would have issued despite paragraphs 111 and 112.     

United States v. Phillips, 497 F.2d 1131 (9  Cir. 1974) is distinguishableth

from the instant case.  In Phillips, this circuit disapproved the entry of federal

narcotics agents accomplished with the assistance of local law enforcement

officers who knocked on the suspect’s door and asked permission to investigate a
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fictitious robbery.  “The occupants were led to believe that they were admitting

officers to investigate a burglary when, in fact, the officers and agents were

entering to arrest Phillips.”  Here, the agents did not gain entry in order to arrest

any of the Defendants.  The detectives also did not knock on the Defendants’ door

asking permission to investigate a fictitious theft.  The Defendants initiated the

contact with the police.     

United States v. Robson, 477 F.2d 13 (9  Cir.1973), is instructive.  Inth

Robson, this circuit held that where a taxpayer was not deprived of his freedom in

any way, the agent was under no duty to inform him of his constitutional rights,

including fact that investigation could have potential criminal consequences and

fact that agent had an informant’s tip suggesting possible tax evasion did not

require such a warning, and further held that taxpayer’s consent to search of his

records for audit by agent could reasonably be accepted as a waiver of warrant

even though record did not disclose that taxpayer was aware of precise nature of

his Fourth Amendment rights.  In Robson, the defendant urged that the failure of

Agent Koba to advise him or his accountant that the true nature of his audit was to

verify an informant’s tip as to the crime of tax evasion constituted deceit and

trickery sufficient to vitiate Robson’s consent to the search of his records.  477

F.3d at 17.  This circuit disagreed.  Id.  Agent Koba did not represent his audit to

be simply “civil” in nature.  In fact, Agent Koba did not indicate to Robson that he

intended to conduct a “civil” audit; rather he told Robson that his tax returns “have

been assigned to me for examination.”  477 F.2d at 18.  This circuit concluded that

Agent Koba “made no affirmatively misleading statements concerning the

potential consequences of his audit.”  Id.  It observed that the defendant “would

have us hold, however, that Koba’s silence as to the criminal potential of his audit

was an affirmative misrepresentation of the true nature of the audit.”  Id.  As the

Fifth Circuit stated in United States v. Prudden, 424 F.2d 1021, 1032 (5  Cir.th
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1970):

Silence can only be equated with fraud where there is a legal or moral
duty to speak or where an inquiry left unanswered would be
intentionally misleading.

Robson, 477 F.2d at 18.  None of those factor were present.  This circuit stated that 

“Agent Koba was under no duty to mention the possible criminal consequences of

his audit, and the record discloses no intimation that Koba was ever queried as to

the scope of his investigation.”  Id.  Therefore, this circuit held that Robson’s

consent to the search of his records was not induced by Agent Koba’s deceit,

trickery, or misrepresentation., and the exhibits cannot be suppressed on that

theory.”  Id.  In a similar vein, the information the Defendants provided was not

induced by Detectives Tafoya or Beck’s deceit, trickery, or misrepresentation. 

The detectives also were never queried by the Defendants as to the scope of their

investigation. There was no deliberate misrepresentation of the government’s

investigation.

United States v. Allen, 675 F.2d 1373 (9  Cir. 1980) is also instructive.  Inth

Allen, a federal customs officer, investigating a suspected drug importation

scheme, accompanied officers of the Bureau of Land Management who were

visiting the defendant’s ranch for the purpose of obtaining a public easement

across the ranch to federal lands beyond.  This circuit held the agent’s entry was

unobjectionable.  “The other officers had a right to enter ... and Gano [the customs

agent] did not violate the Fourth Amendment by concealing his identity as a

Customs Bureau official.  Id. at 1382.  See also Lewis v. United States, 385 U.S.

206 (1966); United States v. Glassel, 488 F.2d 143 (9  Cir. 1973).  The detectivesth

entry into Suite 8B at the invitation of the Defendants was not objectionable.         
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The Government’s Conduct Did Not Violate The Defendant’s
Right To Remain Silent Because The Defendant Was Not
Subjected To Custodial Interrogation

            

The Defendant contends that the indictment should be dismissed or the

evidence suppressed because the government’s conduct during the investigation

violated his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent.  The Fifth Amendment to the

United States Constitution provides that “[n]o person ... shall be compelled in any

criminal case to be a witness against himself.”  U.S. Const. amend V.  See also

United States v. Velarde-Gomez, 269 F.3d 1023, 1029 (9  Cir. 2001) (en banc)th

(stating that Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), warnings are “a

prophylactic means of safeguarding Fifth Amendment rights” and that an

“individual has a right to remain silent in the face of [custodial] government

questioning, regardless of whether the Miranda warnings are given (internal

quotation marks omitted)).  “An officer’s obligation to administer Miranda

warnings attaches only where there has been such a restriction on a person’s

freedom as to render him in custody.”  United States v. Crawford, 372 F.3d 1048,

1059 (9  Cir. 2004) (en banc) (citation, alteration and internal quotation marksth

omitted).  A person is in custody only where “there is a formal arrest or restraint

on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest.”  Id. 

(citation and internal quotation marks omitted).  A court must “examine the

totality of the circumstances from the perspective of a reasonable person in the

subject’s position.”  Id.  (citation omitted).

In Crawford, this circuit held that the defendant was not in custody when he

accompanied the officers to an FBI office, the officers told him that he was not

under arrest and was free to leave, and the officers drove him home after the

interview.  Id. at 1051-52, 1060.  Similarly, in California v. Beheler, 463 U.S.

1121 (1983) (per curiam), the Supreme Court held that Miranda warnings were

not required when a suspect voluntarily comes to the police station, is not placed
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under arrest, and is allowed to leave unhindered after a brief interview.  Id. at

1121-22.

In United States v. Booth, 669 F.2d 1231, 1235 (9  Cir. 1981), this circuitth

outlined the following factors to consider:  (1) language used by the officer to

summon the individual; (2) extent to which he or she is confronted with evidence

of guilt; (3) physical surroundings of the interrogation; (4) duration of the

detention; and (5) degree of pressure applied to detain the individual.  Applying

these factors to the encounters with Detectives Tafoya and Beck, under the totality

of circumstances, the Defendant was not “in custody” and was not interrogated. 

Under clearly established law, the detective’s subjective knowledge and intent are

irrelevant.  Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 652, 662 (2004) (holding that the

custody determination is objective and that “how much the police knew about the

suspect ... [is] irrelevant”); Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 441-42 (1984)

(similar).       

The Defendant’s Sixth Amendment Right to Counsel Was Not
Violated Because Adversary Judicial Criminal Proceedings – By
Way of Formal Charge, Preliminary Hearing, Indictment,
Information, Or Arraignment – Had Not Been Initiated Against
Him At The Time He Met With The Detectives

  

The Sixth Amendment provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions , the

accused shall enjoy the right ... to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.” 

U.S. Const. Amend. VI (emphasis added).  Literally, these prerequisites are not

met here, as there was neither a “prosecution” nor was Defendant Dixie E.

Randock, Steven K. Randock, Sr., Heidi K. Lorhan, or Roberta L. Markishtum, an

“accused” at the time Detectives Tafoya and Beck interviewed them.

Right to counsel cases in general involve incidents that occurred after the

initiation of adversary criminal proceedings and that arose during a critical, post-

indictment proceeding.  As the Supreme Court explained in United States v.

Gouveia, 467 U.S. 180, 187 (1984), “our cases have long recognized that the right
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to counsel attaches only at or after the initiation of adversary judicial proceedings

against the defendant.”  Then-Justice Rehnquist embraced for the majority the

plurality’s description of the right to counsel in Kirby v. Illinois:

“In a line of constitutional cases in this Court stemming back to the
Court’s landmark opinion in Powell v. Alabama, [287 U.S. 45 (1932)]
it has been firmly established that a person’s Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendment right to counsel attaches only at or after the time that
adversary judicial proceedings have been initiated against him.
“... [W]hile members of the Court have differed as to the existence of
the right to counsel in the context of some of the above cases, all of
those cases have involved points of time at or after the initiation of
adversary judicial criminal proceedings – whether by way of formal
charge, preliminary hearing, indictment, information, or
arraignment.”

Gouveia, 467 U.S. at 187-88 (quoting Kirby, 406 U.S. at 688-89 (citations

omitted) (alteration in original).  He then stated:  That interpretation of the Sixth

Amendment right to counsel is consistent not only with the literal language of the

Amendment, which requires the existence of both a “criminal prosecutio[n]” and

an “accused,” but also with the purposes which we have recognized that the right

to counsel serves.  The Supreme Court has recognized that the “core purpose” of

the counsel guarantee is to assure aid at trial, “when the accused [is] confronted

with both the intricacies of the law and the advocacy of the public prosecutor.”  Id.

at 188-89 (quoting United States v. Ash, 413 U.S. 300, 309 (1973) (alterations in

original).

The Supreme Court has consistently held that the right to counsel attaches

only after the initiation of formal charges, reiterating this rule in different contexts. 

For example, in Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 432 (1986), where the defendant

sought to exclude inculpatory statements made to the police after his family had

retained an attorney but before formal charges had been brought, the Court made it

clear that “the possibility that the encounter may have important consequences at

trial, standing alone, is insufficient to trigger the Sixth Amendment right to

counsel.”  Instead, 
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the suggestion that the existence of an attorney-client relationship
itself triggers the protections of the Sixth Amendment misconceives
the underlying purposes of the right to counsel. The Sixth
Amendment’s intended function is not to wrap a protective cloak
around the attorney-client relationship for its own sake any more than
it is to protect a suspect from the consequences of his own candor.

Burbine, 475 U.S. at 430.  The Court continued:

Its purpose, rather, is to assure that in any “criminal prosecutio[n],” 
U.S. Const., Amdt. 6, the accused shall not be left to his own devices
in facing the “ ‘prosecutorial forces of organized society.’ ” By its
very terms, it becomes applicable only when the government’s role
shifts from investigation to accusation.  For it is only then that the
assistance of one versed in the “intricacies ... of law,” is needed to
assure that the prosecution’s case encounters “the crucible of
meaningful adversarial testing.”  Indeed, in Maine v. Moulton [474
U.S. 159 (1985)] ... , the Court again confirmed that looking to the
initiation of adversary judicial proceedings, far from being a mere
formalism, is fundamental to the proper application of the Sixth
Amendment right to counsel.  There, we considered the constitutional
implications of surreptitious investigation that yielded evidence
pertaining to two crimes.  For one, the defendant had been indicted;
for the other, he had not.  Concerning the former, the Court
reaffirmed that after the first charging proceeding the government
may not deliberately elicit incriminating statements from an accused
out of presence of counsel.  The Court made clear, however, that the
evidence concerning the crime for which the defendant had not been
indicted – evidence obtained in precisely the same manner from the
identical suspect – would be admissible at a trial limited to those
charges.  The clear implication of the holding, and one that confirms
the teaching of Gouveia, is that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel
does not attach until after the initiation of formal charges.

Burbine, 475 U.S. at 430-31.

The law in this circuit is equally clear.  For example, in United States v.

Kenny, 645 F.2d 1323 (9  Cir. 1981), this circuit, in rejecting a Massiah challengeth

to a tape recording made by an informant of a conversation with a defendant (who

was represented by counsel) before his indictment noted that Kenny had not been

charged, arrested, or indicted at the time of the recording, noted:

The short answer to Kenny’s contention that his right to counsel was
breached is that the right to counsel is not viewed to attach prior to
the initiation of adversary judicial proceedings against an accused. 
Where a case is still in the investigative stage, or in the absence of a
person’s being charged, arrested, or indicted, such adversary
proceedings have not yet commenced, and thus no right to counsel
has attached.
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Kenny, 645 F.2d at 1338 (citation omitted).  In United States v. Hayes, 231 F.3d

663 (9  Cir. 2000) (en banc), this Circuit held that use against the defendant of anth

incriminating tape recording of his conversation with a coconspirator, in absence

of counsel did not violate the defendant’s right to counsel even though the

defendant had been served with a target letter, was represented by counsel, and the

government had conducted depositions of material witnesses pursuant to court

order.  Other circuits are in accord.  See, e.g., Hayes, 231 F.3d 663, 672, n. 4 (9th

Cir. 2000) (citing cases).  

In the instant case, no formal charge, preliminary hearing, indictment,

information, or arraignment had occurred when the Defendants met with

Detectives Tafoya and Beck.  Therefore, the Defendants’ argument is without

merit and there is no Sixth Amendment violation.              

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants’ motion to dismiss the indictment

and suppress evidence should be denied.

DATED August 31, 2007.

James A. McDevitt

United States Attorney

s/ George J.C. Jacobs, III

George J.C. Jacobs, III

Assistant United States Attorney
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mailed by United States Postal Service the document to the following non-

CM/ECF participant(s):

Mr. Peter S. Schweda
Attorney at Law
2206 North Pines Road
Spokane, WA 99206

Mr. Phillip J. Wetzel
Attorney at Law
901 North Adams Street
Spokane, WA 99201

Mr. Richard D. Wall
Attorney at Law
423 West First Avenue, Suite 220
Spokane, WA 99201

Mr. Timothy D. Trageser
Attorney at Law
1427 W. Northwest Blvd.
Spokane, WA 99205

s/ George J.C. Jacobs, III
 

George J.C. Jacobs, III
Assistant United States Attorney


